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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Plaintiffs-Appellants appeal from a decision by Judge Gerard E. Lynch of 

the Southern District of New York dismissing their claims pursuant to the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) against defendants Joseph P. 

Collins (“Collins”) and Mayer Brown LLP (“Mayer Brown”).  See In re Refco, Inc. 

Securities Litigation, No. 06 Civ. 8626 (GEL), 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21505 

(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 17, 2009) (SPA-49-59). 1 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

The District Court had subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to §27 of the 

Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78aa, and 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1337.   

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1291.  Partial final 

judgment was entered below on March 18, 2009 under Fed. R. Civ. P. 54(b), 

dismissing all claims against Collins and Mayer Brown.  SPA-27.  Plaintiffs filed a 

timely notice of appeal on April 16, 2009.  A-1136.   

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether a lawyer and law firm commit a primary violation of the securities 

laws, or are merely “aiders and abettors” of a corporate client’s violations of 

those laws, when they design, structure, and implement sham loan 

                                                 
1 Citations in the form “SPA___” are to the Special Appendix.  Citations in the 
form “A___” are to the Joint Appendix.  Citations in the form of “CA___” are to 
the Confidential Appendix. 
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transactions for the purpose of concealing their corporate client’s true 

financial condition, and then ensure that the sham loans will be concealed 

from investors by drafting false securities offering documents. 

2. Whether investors can satisfy the reliance element of a securities fraud claim 

against a lawyer and law firm who intentionally draft false securities 

offering documents on their client’s behalf, if the documents identify the law 

firm as counsel but do not explicitly credit the lawyer or law firm with 

authorship. 

3. Whether investors can satisfy the reliance element of a securities fraud claim 

against a corporation’s lawyers when the corporation publicly reports 

phantom “customer receivables” that are in fact the product of sham loans 

devised and effectuated by its lawyers. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is a securities class action brought on behalf of persons who purchased 

securities of Refco, Inc. (“Refco” or “the Company”) between July 1, 2004 and 

October 17, 2005.  Plaintiffs-Appellants PIMCO and RH Capital Associates LLC 

(together, “Plaintiffs”) are the court-appointed Lead Plaintiffs.  Defendants-

Appellees are Collins and Mayer Brown (together, “Defendants”). 

Refco issued a series of bonds in connection with a leveraged buyout in 

2004, followed by an initial public offering (“IPO”) of its shares in August 2005.  
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Just two months after its IPO, Refco disclosed a hitherto-unreported $430 million 

receivable owed to it by a shell company controlled by Refco’s CEO.  Within a 

week, Refco’s CEO was under arrest and the Company had declared bankruptcy. 

On December 3, 2007, Plaintiffs filed the Second Amended Complaint in 

this action (the “Complaint”), alleging that Collins and Mayer Brown, Refco’s 

longstanding outside counsel, had violated §10(b) of the Exchange Act by 

scheming to conceal Refco’s true financial condition.  On March 17, 2009, the 

District Court granted Defendants’ motion to dismiss, finding that Plaintiffs had 

adequately pleaded Defendants’ scienter but that Defendants’ conduct constituted 

only “aiding and abetting” under §10(b) and thus could not be the subject of a 

private securities fraud claim.  Final judgment was entered on March 18, 2009, and 

Plaintiffs appealed. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. Refco, Collins, and Mayer Brown 

Before it imploded, Refco was one of the largest brokerage and clearing 

firms in the international derivatives, currency, and futures markets, and Mayer 

Brown – led by Collins – was Refco’s primary outside counsel for more than ten 

years.  ¶¶76-77 (CA-38-39).2  Collins had represented Refco for nearly ten years at 

                                                 
2 Citations to “¶ __” are to the Second Amended Consolidated Class Action 
Complaint, unless otherwise indicated. 
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his prior law firm, then moved to Mayer Brown and brought Refco as his main 

client.  Id.  Accordingly, Collins had represented Refco for twenty years.  Id. 

Defendants were intimately familiar with Refco’s business, and most of 

Refco’s important transactions were cleared through Collins (whom press reports 

referred to as the “go-to-guy at Refco”) or Mayer Brown attorneys working under 

Collins’s supervision.  ¶¶77, 711-13 (CA-38-39, CA-279-81).  In return, Mayer 

Brown annually collected approximately $5 million in legal fees from Refco, or 

nearly half of Collins’s billings.  ¶¶78, 714 (CA-39, CA-281).  Collins reviewed 

bills to Refco monthly and was aware of all work performed.  Id.   

II. The Scheme to Defraud Refco Investors 

Refco allowed its customers to trade “on margin,” i.e., purchase securities 

with loans from Refco, using the contents of their brokerage accounts as collateral.  

¶2 (CA-9).   Although Refco benefitted from interest paid on margin loans, Refco 

was exposed to the same trading risks as its customers – the riskier their portfolios, 

the greater the risk to Refco.  Id.  In the 1990s, Refco’s customers suffered massive 

trading losses and were unable or unwilling to repay hundreds of millions of 

dollars in loans.  ¶¶3, 431-35 (CA-9-10, CA-170-72).  Refco, as well, suffered $40 

million in losses from its own proprietary trading.  ¶95 (CA-45).  Faced with 

having to write off these huge uncollectible receivables – a catastrophe for the 

Company and for Collins’s future billings – Refco’s CEO Phillip R. Bennett 
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(“Bennett”), Collins, and other Mayer Brown attorneys conceived and orchestrated 

a series of fraudulent transactions to conceal these bad debts for years.  ¶¶4, 425-

26, 436, 438 (CA-10, CA-168-69, CA-172-174). 

To avoid writing off the uncollectible receivables, Refco transferred them to 

Refco Group Holdings, Inc. (“RGHI”), a shell entity with no operations that was 

owned by Bennett and a former Refco CEO.  ¶¶3, 31, 96 (CA-9-10, CA-13-14, 

CA-45-46).  The Company’s books reflected a multi-hundred million dollar 

receivable from RGHI.  Knowing that RGHI could not pay it, and that investors 

would question the collectibility of such a large related-party receivable, Collins 

and Bennett devised a series of sham transactions to temporarily replace the RGHI 

receivable on Refco’s books with receivables from Refco’s brokerage customers.  

¶¶96, 451 (CA-45-46, CA-179).  These transactions – which were repeated at the 

end of every fiscal year from 2000 forward, and at the end of every quarter from at 

least 2004 until August 2005 – enabled Refco to disguise the uncollectible RGHI 

debt as seemingly legitimate (and collectible) customer receivables on its public 

financial statements.  Id.  After the close of each financial period, these sham 

transactions were unwound and the uncollectible receivable from RGHI again 

appeared on Refco’s books.  ¶¶5, 451 (CA-10-11, CA-179).  Had Refco 

acknowledged the receivable as uncollectible, it would have wiped out Refco’s 

annual income many times over.  ¶580 (CA-217).  
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III. Defendants’ Role in the Fraud 

A. Defendants Effectuated Sham Loans 

Defendants were intimately involved in the fraud at Refco, including the 

initial transfer of uncollectible receivables to RGHI and seventeen rounds of sham 

loan transactions that temporarily transferred the RGHI receivable to customers.3  

For example, in October 1997, Defendants, acting as agents for Refco, negotiated a 

settlement with respect to trading losses sustained by Refco customer Victor 

Niederhoffer.  Niederhoffer turned over the proceeds of his accounts to Refco in 

exchange for Refco’s agreement – in documents prepared by Mayer Brown – to 

forgive the much larger amount (approximately $71 million) Niederhoffer still 

owed the Company.  ¶440 (CA-174-175).  To conceal these losses, Defendants and 

Bennett caused Refco to assign to RGHI the “receivable” for the uncollectible 

portion of Niederhoffer’s debt – a debt they knew Niederhoffer had no legal 

obligation to repay.  Id.  In exchange for this worthless receivable, RGHI agreed – 

in documents drafted by Mayer Brown – to pay Refco the amount of 

Niederhoffer’s uncollectible debt.  Id.  Thus, the extinguished Niederhoffer debt 

was removed from Refco’s books and replaced with a purportedly collectible 

                                                 
3  Shortly after the Complaint was filed, Collins was indicted (“Collins 
Indictment”).  A-353.  The District Court took judicial notice of the indictment, 
which details Collins’s and Mayer Brown’s indispensable role in the scheme, and 
recognized that Plaintiffs intended to use the indictment to supplement their 
allegations.  SPA-5 n.6.  Collins’s criminal trial was held in May and June of this 
year, and as of the date of filing, no verdict had been rendered. 
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receivable from RGHI.  Defendants knew that the transfer of the Niederhoffer 

receivable was a sham lacking any legitimate business purpose, and knew that 

RGHI, a non-operating company, could not pay the amount it purportedly now 

owed Refco.  ¶441-42 (CA-175).  

Defendants then transferred other uncollectible customer receivables to 

RGHI.  By 2004, the worthless RGHI receivable had reached $970 million, or 

more than five times Refco’s reported income for the year.  ¶¶135, 580 (CA-65, 

CA-217).  To avoid disclosing such a large uncollectible debt, a few days before 

Refco closed its books for each financial period, it “loaned” hundreds of millions 

of dollars to certain of its brokerage customers, who simultaneously “loaned” the 

same amount to RGHI.  ¶¶451-53 (CA-179-80).  RGHI used those loans to pay 

down the receivable it owed to Refco, eliminating the related-party receivable from 

Refco’s books.  Id.  Meanwhile, Refco’s “loans” to customers were publicly 

reported as “receivables from customers” rather than related-party debt on Refco’s 

financial statements.  ¶¶128, 188-89, 215 (CA-60, CA-85-86, CA-95-96).  After 

the financial period ended – often within days – these transactions were reversed, 

Refco paid its customers a fee for participating in the risk-free “loans,” and the 

RGHI receivable was returned to Refco’s books.  ¶¶454-519, 549-572 (CA-180-95, 

CA-204-13).  Mayer Brown attorneys, supervised by Collins, negotiated and 
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documented seventeen rounds of these sham transactions between 2000 and 2005.  

Id.    

Defendants were responsible for all aspects of the loans from Refco to its 

customers and from the customers to RGHI, including explaining the structure and 

terms to potential participants; negotiating the loans; drafting and revising the 

documentation; transmitting the documents; and retaining custody of and 

distributing executed copies.  Id.  At least twice, a Mayer Brown attorney 

identified himself as Refco’s “agent” and signed documents on its behalf.  ¶¶554, 

564 (CA-206-07, CA-209-10).  Mayer Brown even represented one of the 

customers who participated in the loans – which Mayer Brown’s invoice called 

“back-to-back loans” – and thus fully understood all sides of these transactions.  

¶¶452, 558 (CA-179-80, CA-208).  Collins supervised these activities, negotiated 

and revised loan documents, sent drafts of loan documents to Refco, and discussed 

the enforceability of the loans with Refco management.  ¶¶550, 556, 560, 567, 

571-72, 574 (CA-205, CA-207-08, CA-210, CA-212, CA-214).  Mayer Brown’s 

involvement was so pervasive that, in the wake of the Enron scandal, when one 

customer withdrew from a loan out of concern that the transactions constituted 

securities fraud, the customer offered to “reimburse Refco for reasonable legal 

expenses” owed to Mayer Brown.  ¶¶559-62 (CA-208-09). 
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B. Defendants Created Fraudulent Public Statements 

By 2002, Defendants knew that Bennett sought to sell his interests in Refco, 

a process that would require disclosure of Refco’s financial statements to investors.  

¶99 (CA-47).  In 2004, Refco issued $600 million in bonds to PIMCO and other 

investors (the “Bonds”) in connection with a leveraged buy-out (“LBO”) that 

yielded tens of millions of dollars for Bennett and other Refco executives.  

Defendants represented both Refco and RGHI in the LBO and – as publicly 

disclosed – represented Refco in the Bond offering.  ¶¶82, 100-12, 116, 165 (CA-

41, CA-48-52, CA-54-55, CA-76).   

The Bonds were designed to be sold in a two-step process.   First, Refco, 

with Defendants acting on its behalf and with other entities, drafted and circulated 

an Offering Memorandum, pursuant to which qualified investors purchased the 

Bonds.  ¶¶107-11, 115-16, 169 (CA50-52, CA-53-55, CA-77).  As described 

further below, Defendants drafted the Management Discussion & Analysis 

(“MD&A”) section of the Offering Memorandum, and reviewed and revised drafts 

of other sections, participating in at least two group drafting sessions.  ¶116 (CA-

54-55).  The Offering Memorandum provided that Refco would register an 

identical series of bonds with the SEC, and would allow the original bondholders 

to exchange their unregistered Bonds for registered ones.  ¶¶107-11 (CA50-52).   
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Second, Refco used the text of the Offering Memorandum as the foundation 

for the Registration Statement for the promised registered Bonds.  ¶169 (CA-77).  

The 15-page MD&A section, drafted by Defendants, was repeated virtually word 

for word in the original Registration Statement filing.  Id.; compare A-510-24 with 

A-746-62.  Defendants also reviewed SEC comment letters on the draft 

Registration Statement and participated in group drafting sessions. ¶¶170-71, 177, 

180 (CA77-78, CA-80-81). 

Mayer Brown used its responsibility for and control over the drafting of the 

Offering Memorandum, and later the Bond Registration Statement, to ensure that 

the sham loans were concealed from investors.  The MD&A section was materially 

false as a result of the fraud because it failed to disclose the existence of hundreds 

of millions of dollars of uncollectible receivables, related-party transactions, and 

guarantees.  The section also misleadingly claimed that the Company employed 

careful risk management procedures that minimized customer defaults.  ¶¶127-28, 

133, 135, 149-50, 152-53 (CA-59-60, CA-64-65, CA-70-72 ).   

The Bond Registration Statement was amended several times with updated 

information before it was finalized, and additional round-trip transactions were 

timed to coincide with each amendment, ensuring that Refco would continue to 

report the debt from RGHI as “receivables from customers” with each update.  

¶¶165, 183, 193 (CA-76, CA-82-83, CA-87).  In the final version, Refco reported 
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$1,591,385,000 in customer receivables for fiscal year 2004, 45% of which were 

sham loans effectuated through Defendants, and an additional 16% of which were 

other sham loans.4  For fiscal year 2003, Refco reported $ 1,490,380,000 in 

customer receivables, of which more than 60% represented sham loans, two-thirds 

of which had been effectuated by Defendants.  Had Defendants not effectuated 

these transactions, Refco would have reported losses of nearly half a billion 

dollars.   ¶¶130, 183, 580 (CA-61-63, CA-82-83CA-217).   

Next, Refco’s insiders initiated a $670 million IPO of Refco stock.  Collins 

and Mayer Brown represented Refco in the IPO and played a significant role in 

preparing the IPO Registration Statement, which was prepared at the same time as 

the Bond Registration Statement, and which again identified Mayer Brown as 

counsel to Refco.  ¶¶170, 198, 201 (CA-77-78, CA-89, CA-89-90).  Defendants 

reviewed SEC comments, ¶201 (CA-89-90), and had responsibility for drafting the 

“Risk Factors” section, Collins Indictment  ¶¶45-47 (A-379).  This section was 

false and misleading because it merely warned that customer defaults might result 

in losses to Refco, but failed to disclose that as much as $970 million of the 

customer receivables reported in the IPO Registration Statement were actually 

uncollectible debt from RGHI.  ¶¶224, 226 (CA-102-03).  As in the Bond 

                                                 
4 The additional sham loans were between Refco and a related party called 
BAWAG.  These loans were informal and largely undocumented.  ¶¶520-48 (CA-
195-204). 
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Registration Statement, the round trip transactions caused Refco to overstate its 

customer receivables by amounts that greatly exceeded its annual income.  ¶¶216, 

580 (CA-96-98, CA-217).  As Refco filed amendments to the IPO Registration 

Statement leading up to the IPO, the updated financial information reflected the 

results of the latest roundtrip transactions. ¶¶198, 216 (CA-89, CA-96-98). 

IV. Revelation of the Fraud 

Just before its IPO in August 2005, Refco hired a new Controller who soon 

focused on the RGHI receivable.  ¶232 (CA-105).  On October 10, 2005, forty-two 

trading days after the IPO, Refco issued a press release stating that it had 

discovered a $430 million receivable owed to the Company by a “Bennett-

controlled entity.”  The Company admitted that financial reports going back as far 

as 2002 could no longer be relied upon.  ¶¶233-34 (CA-105-106).  Refco’s stock 

price plunged 45% in a single day, and S&P and Moody’s downgraded its Bond 

rating.  The SEC began a formal investigation the next day, and by October 12, 

Bennett had been arrested by the U.S. Attorney as a “flight risk.”  ¶¶236-40 (CA-

106-08).  In the following days, Refco announced that it no longer had sufficient 

liquidity to continue operations, and the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) 

halted trading in its stock.  On October 17, 2005, Refco announced it was filing for 

bankruptcy.  ¶¶241-44 (CA108-09).    
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On December 18, 2007, Collins was indicted for eleven felonies, including 

two counts of violating Rule 10b-5(a), (b) and (c) and one count of conspiracy to 

commit securities fraud.  The allegations include that Collins and other Mayer 

Brown attorneys knowingly negotiated and drafted fraudulent loan documents and 

SEC filings, Collins Indictment ¶¶10, 19, 21, 44-49, 54, 56-57 (A-357-58, A-361, 

A-364, A-379-82, A-384-86); that Collins “made and caused to be made false 

public filings” with the SEC, id. ¶9 (A-356); and that Collins “made affirmative 

misrepresentations, material omissions, and told deceptive half-truths [that were] 

believed by Refco’s investors and lenders in part because Collins’s status as a 

partner with a well-known law firm and as Refco’s long-time counsel gave them 

confidence that such representations were truthful, accurate, and complete.” Id. ¶10 

(A-357-58).   

V. Dismissal in the District Court  

In the Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs alleged that Defendants 

violated §10(b), both because of their role in structuring and effectuating the sham 

transactions, and because of their role in making false representations and omitting 

material facts in Refco’s offering documents.  The District Court dismissed these 

claims, concluding that, while Plaintiffs had adequately met their heightened 

burden for pleading scienter under §10(b), the alleged conduct only amounted to 

“aiding and abetting.”  (SPA-17, SPA-20-21).   
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

In Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 

511 U.S. 164 (1994) and Stoneridge Investment Partners, LLC v. Scientific-

Atlanta, 128 S. Ct. 761 (2008), the Supreme Court stated the principles for 

imposing §10(b) liability on a defendant who acts “behind the scenes” of a fraud.  

The defendant must himself commit deceptive acts – which can consist of making 

statements, engaging in conduct, or both – and those acts must either be 

communicated to investors, inevitably result in a deception of investors, or concern 

the securities markets and the investment sphere.  Defendants’ conduct meets these 

standards. 

By drafting misleading portions of Refco’s public filings, Defendants’ “acts” 

– their words – were directly communicated to, and deceived, investors.  The 

District Court nonetheless held that there could be no liability because the 

statements were not explicitly attributed to Collins or Mayer Brown at the time of 

their dissemination.  Supreme Court precedent imposes no such attribution 

requirements, and this Court has never held that attribution is necessary when a 

defendant itself created a false statement or committed a deceptive act.  Rather, this 

Court has required attribution when a plaintiff attempted to hold a defendant liable 

for misrepresentations made by others.  Here, because Collins and Mayer Brown 
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themselves made false representations (although not attributed to them), attribution 

is not required. 

Defendants are also liable because of their role in effectuating the seventeen 

rounds of sham loan transactions.  These loans were disclosed to investors – in the 

form of a line item on Refco’s financial statements declaring the total “receivables 

from customers” – and their repetitive character, spanning a five-year period, 

rendered it “necessary” and “inevitable” that they would be misreported.  

Moreover, because these transactions concerned sham financing accomplished 

through securities brokerage accounts, they occurred within the “investment 

sphere,” creating a close nexus between Defendants’ deception and the injury to 

Refco’s investors. 

Finally, the fraud was a “necessary or inevitable” result of Defendants’ 

scheme as a whole.  Defendants conceived, negotiated, and effectuated the loans, 

representing Refco, RGHI, and at least one round-trip loan counterparty; directed 

payment to Refco and signed documents on Refco’s behalf in furtherance of the 

sham loans; and ensured that the fraud would be concealed from the investing 

public through their role in drafting Refco’s offering documents.  Because this 

conduct directly defrauded investors, Collins and Mayer Brown are primary 

violators under §10(b). 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is reviewed de novo, and all facts alleged in 

the Complaint are accepted as true.  Vital v. Interfaith Med. Ctr., 168 F.3d 615, 619 

(2d Cir. 1999) (citation omitted). 

ARGUMENT 

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78j(b), provides: “It shall be 

unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, to use or employ, in connection 

with the purchase or sale of any security … any manipulative or deceptive device 

or contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the [SEC] may 

prescribe.”  SEC Rule 10b-5 prohibits anyone, in connection with the purchase or 

sale of a security: 

(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, 

(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to 
state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements 
made … not misleading, or 

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which 
operates … as a fraud or deceit upon any person. 

17 CFR §240.10b-5. 

Plaintiffs pleaded that Collins and Mayer Brown schemed to defraud Refco 

investors with a course of business that included negotiating and drafting contracts 

for sham loan transactions, representing Refco, RGHI, and at least one customer in 

executing the loans, and then actively concealing the loans from investors by 
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drafting false securities offering documents on Refco’s behalf.  These allegations 

fall squarely within Rule 10b-5’s prohibitions against “engag[ing] in any … course 

of business which operates … as a fraud or deceit.” 

Nonetheless, the District Court held that Plaintiffs had alleged no more than 

aiding and abetting.  In so doing, the court misapplied this Court’s precedents, 

failed to consider the proper application of Stoneridge, and failed to consider the 

totality of the alleged conduct.   

I. Defendants Are Liable Under §10(b)  

The Supreme Court first considered the issue of primary versus aiding and 

abetting liability under §10(b) in Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate 

Bank of Denver, N.A.  In that action, the defendant bank had served as indenture 

trustee for bonds secured by land.  The bank delayed updating its appraisal of the 

land, and ultimately the bond issuer defaulted before the appraisal occurred.  See 

511 U.S. at 167-68.  Bondholders sued the bank.  Conceding that the bank itself 

had not engaged in deceptive conduct, see id. at 191, the bondholders alleged that 

the bank had aided and abetted the issuer’s §10(b) violation, see id. at 168. 

The Supreme Court concluded that §10(b) “prohibits only the making of a 

material misstatement (or omission) or the commission of a manipulative act,” id. 

at 177, and therefore could not be expanded to impose liability on those who do 

not engage in deceptive conduct, id. at 177-78.   The Court also observed that 
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sustaining the plaintiffs’ claims would “impose 10b-5 aiding and abetting liability 

when at least one element critical for recovery under 10b-5 is absent: reliance.”  Id. 

at 180.  This was because in the absence of deceptive conduct by the defendant, the 

plaintiff could not have “relied” on the defendant’s own actions.  See id.  The 

Court observed, however, that “[i]n any complex securities fraud … there are 

likely to be multiple violators,” and that any “lawyer, accountant, or bank, who 

employs a manipulative device or makes a material misstatement (or omission) on 

which a purchaser or seller of securities relies may be liable as a primary violator 

under 10b-5.”  Id. at 191.  

The Supreme Court revisited the scope of §10(b) liability in Stoneridge 

Investment Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta.  Although Stoneridge addressed 

claims brought under Rule 10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c), the Court’s decision provides 

significant guidance as to the scope of §10(b) liability generally.  Indeed, while 

Rule 10b-5 separately addresses different types of fraudulent conduct, §10(b) itself 

draws no such distinctions. 

In Stoneridge, two outside vendors of Charter Communications allegedly 

participated in a scheme to help Charter meet projected revenues for its fourth 

quarter of 2000.  The vendors purchased advertising from Charter, and, in return, 

Charter paid inflated prices to rent cable set-top boxes from the vendors.  Charter 

improperly used the different accounting treatment for the set-top box rentals and 
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the advertising to report an additional $17 million in revenue for the quarter.  See 

128 S. Ct. at 766-67. 

The Court agreed with the plaintiffs that §10(b) prohibits all forms of 

deceptive conduct, and that the vendors had engaged in a deceptive “course of 

conduct” that “included both oral and written statements.”  Id. at 769.   However, 

the Court concluded that the plaintiffs had not “relied” on the vendors’ actions.  

The Court recognized that in a fraud-on-the-market claim, plaintiffs are presumed 

to rely on false statements publicly uttered in an efficient market.  See id. at 769.  

However, the vendors “had no role in preparing” Charter’s false financial 

statements.  Id. at 767.  Because the vendors had issued no public statements and 

their “deceptive acts” had not been publicly disclosed, the Court examined whether 

their actions had caused Charter’s false statements to issue.  Id. at 769-70.   

The Court concluded that the chain of causation between the vendors’ 

conduct and Charter’s false financial reporting was “too remote” for liability.  Id. 

at 769.  Nothing the vendors did “made it necessary or inevitable for Charter to 

record the transactions as it did.”  Id. at 770.  The Court explained that it had 

imposed such a standard for causation, arguably beyond that required at common 

law, see id. at 771, because the plaintiffs sought to apply §10(b) “beyond the 

securities markets – the realm of financing business – to purchase and supply 

contracts – the realm of ordinary business operations.” Id. at 770.  The Court 
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explained, “[R]espondents were acting in concert with Charter in the ordinary 

course as suppliers and, as matters then evolved in the not so ordinary course, as 

customers.  Unconventional as the arrangement was, it took place in the 

marketplace for goods and services, not in the investment sphere.” Id. at 774 

(emphasis added).     

Central Bank and Stoneridge thus instruct:  First, §10(b) liability attaches 

when the defendant engages in deceptive acts, which can include making 

statements, other conduct, or a combination thereof.  See Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 

176; Stoneridge, 128 S. Ct. at 769.  Second, without a deceptive act, there can be 

no reliance.  See Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 180.  Third, where a deceptive act 

occurred, causation and reliance will be satisfied if the act was communicated to 

the market, see Stoneridge, 128 S. Ct. at 769, if a deceptive statement was the 

“necessary or inevitable” result of the defendant’s conduct, id. at 770, or if the 

conduct concerned the “securities markets” or the “investment sphere,” id. at 770, 

774.  All these standards are met for Defendants’ conduct. 

A. Defendants Are Liable Under Rule 10b-5(b) 

1. Defendants Made False Statements 

The District Court began by examining Defendants’ role in drafting Refco’s 

public filings, concluding that Defendants’ conduct only constituted aiding and 

abetting because no false statements were publicly attributed to Collins or Mayer 
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Brown.  SPA-12-17.  As discussed in Part I.C, infra, the District Court erred by 

considering Defendants’ role in drafting Refco’s public statements separately from 

the rest of their scheme; nonetheless, even if these allegations are examined in 

isolation, Plaintiffs have stated a claim.  

The starting point in interpreting the meaning of words used in a statute or 

rule must be “the language itself.”  Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 197 

(1976) (quotations omitted).  Rule 10b-5(b) makes it unlawful “[t]o make any 

untrue statement of a material fact…”  17 CFR §240.10b-5(b).  “Make” means 

“[t]o cause to exist or happen; bring about; create.”  AMERICAN HERITAGE 

COLLEGE DICTIONARY 835 (4th ed. 2002).  Here, the Complaint alleges that Collins 

and Mayer Brown “drafted” and “revised” key portions of the Offering 

Memorandum, including the false and misleading MD&A section.  ¶¶116, 127-28, 

133, 149-50, 152-53 (CA-54-55, CA-59-60, CA-64, CA-70-72).  Defendants knew 

when drafting these documents that they would be used in the Bond Registration 

Statement. ¶169 (CA-77).   The Complaint also alleges that Collins and Mayer 

Brown participated in preparing the Bond Registration Statement, which omitted 

the same facts as the Offering Memorandum.  ¶¶169-70, 186, 189 (CA-77-78, CA-

84-86).  Finally, the Complaint alleges that Defendants were “directly involved” in 

“drafting the IPO Registration Statement” which contained similar false and 

misleading statements to the Bond offering documents.  ¶¶170, 201 (CA-77-78, 
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CA-89-90).  The Collins Indictment attributes to Collins responsibility for the 

“Risk Factors” section, which included “warnings” of the possibility of losses from 

customer receivables without disclosing that Refco had already lost nearly $1 

billion.  ¶¶224, 226 (CA102-03); Collins Indictment ¶45-47 (A-379-80).  

In sum, the Complaint alleges that Defendants drafted misleading portions of 

Refco’s offering documents, and the District Court explicitly accepted these 

allegations.  SPA-6-8.  Under the plain meaning of Rule 10b-5(b), a person who 

creates a statement or causes a statement to exist by, for example, dictating its 

language, “make[s]” a statement.  Therefore, Defendants made false statements 

within the meaning of §10(b) and Rule 10b-5(b). 

2. Plaintiffs’ Rule 10b-5(b) Claim Satisfies Stoneridge 

Defendants’ deceptive statements were directly communicated to the market.  

Their words were included in Refco’s filings, and were relied upon by investors.  

See Stoneridge, 128 S. Ct. at 769 (“[I]t can be assumed that an investor who buys 

or sells stock at the market price relies upon the statement.”).  Additionally, by 

drafting the false statements, Defendants made it both “necessary” and “inevitable” 

that Refco’s statements would be misleading.  This is particularly so because, as 

Refco’s counsel, Collins and Mayer Brown acted as Refco’s agents, and thus as an 
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arm of Refco itself. 5  See Horwitz v. Holabird & Root, 212 Ill. 2d 1 (Ill. 2004) 

(discussing the attorney-client agency relationship under Illinois law)6; Suez Equity 

Investors, L.P. v. Toronto-Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 101 (2d Cir. 2001) (“A 

corporation can only act through its employees and agents.”).  By contrast, in 

aiding-and-abetting cases such as Central Bank and Wright v. Ernst & Young LLP, 

152 F.3d 169 (2d Cir. 1998), “there was no allegation that the defendants were 

agents of the alleged defrauder.”  Suez Equity, 250 F.3d at 101.  

Indeed, because Refco had such a small legal team, leaving Collins and 

Mayer Brown the functional equivalent of in-house counsel, ¶711 (CA-279), there 

was little chance that Defendants’ drafts would be altered by Refco.  This is 

particularly true because the gravamen of Plaintiffs’ Complaint is that the portions 

drafted by Collins and Mayer Brown misleadingly omitted facts about the sham 

loans.   Those omissions were Defendants’ own work, and remained unaltered until 

the registration statements were publicly filed.  

Finally, by drafting portions of Refco’s offering documents, Collins and 

Mayer Brown acted within the “investment sphere” rather than the “marketplace 
                                                 
5 If there is any doubt about the agency relationship between Mayer Brown and 
Refco, the Complaint sufficiently alleges facts suggesting such a relationship to 
survive a motion to dismiss.  See  In re Alstom SA Sec. Litig., 406 F. Supp. 2d 433, 
469 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (agency relationships must only be pled in accordance with 
Rule 8(a)). 

6 Mayer Brown is an Illinois limited liability partnership, ¶76, and much of the 
deceptive conduct alleged emanated from its Chicago office.   
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for goods and services,” Stoneridge, 128 S. Ct. at 774, thus satisfying Stoneridge’s 

causation and reliance standards.    

3. The District Court Misapplied This Court’s Precedent 

The District Court relied on the pre-Stoneridge decisions of Wright and 

Lattanzio v. Deloitte & Touche LLP, 476 F.3d 147 (2d Cir. 2007), to hold that 

liability would exist under Rule 10b-5(b) only if the offering documents explicitly 

“attribute[d] any of their contents to Mayer Brown,” SPA-14.  The interpretation of 

Wright and Lattanzio to impose an inflexible “attribution” requirement in all 10b-

5(b) cases reflects a misreading of those decisions, and one that district courts in 

this Circuit have struggled to reconcile with other Circuit precedent.  See, e.g., In 

re Global Crossing, Ltd. Sec. Litig., 322 F. Supp. 2d 319, 331-33 (S.D.N.Y. 2004); 

Pension Comm. of Univ. of Montreal Pension Plan v. Banc of Am. Sec., LLC, 446 

F. Supp. 2d 163, 183 n.129 (S.D.N.Y. 2006).  In fact, “attribution” was required by 

the Court as a substitute for speech only in situations where plaintiffs sought to 

hold defendants liable for statements created by others.  Here, because Collins and 

Mayer Brown themselves created the false statements by drafting Refco’s public 

filings, attribution is not required. 

Wright and Lattanzio were two of a trio of cases this Court decided 

interpreting the contours of Central Bank.  The first was Shapiro v. Cantor, 123 

F.3d 717 (2d Cir.1997), in which the plaintiffs alleged that the auditor of a group 
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of limited partnerships failed to disclose fraudulent acts committed by the 

partnerships’ principals.  The Court rejected the claim, emphasizing that after 

Central Bank, “[a] claim under §10(b) must allege a defendant has made a material 

misstatement or omission indicating an intent to deceive or defraud in connection 

with the purchase or sale of a security.” Id. at 720-21; see id. at 720 (“If Central 

Bank is to have any real meaning, a defendant must actually make a false or 

misleading statement in order to be held liable under Section 10(b).”) (quotation 

omitted).  In support of its holding, Shapiro endorsed Anixter v. Home-Stake 

Production Co., 77 F.3d 1215 (10th Cir. 1996), where the Tenth Circuit rejected an 

invitation to impose liability on secondary actors who merely “substantially 

participate” in a false statement.  Id. at 1226-27.  Instead, Anixter held that “in 

order for accountants to ‘use or employ’ a ‘deception’ actionable under the 

antifraud law, they must themselves make a false or misleading statement (or 

omission) that they know or should know will reach potential investors.”  77 F.3d 

at 1226-27 (cited in Shapiro, 123 F.3d at 720).  Thus, under Shapiro, liability 

attaches if the defendant makes a false statement that it knows or should know will 

reach investors.  Nothing in the opinion imposes an additional attribution 

requirement. 

A year later, in Wright, a plaintiff sought to hold a company’s auditor liable 

for false financial data in a corporate press release.  152 F.3d at 171.  The release 
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did not mention the auditor, see id. at 172, the auditor was not alleged to have 

drafted any portion of the release, see id. at 173, and the release specifically 

labeled the financials as “unaudited.”  Id. at 172.  The plaintiff contended that the 

auditor was nevertheless liable because it had “orally approv[ed]” the financial 

statements, id. at 171, and because the public had implicitly recognized the 

auditor’s involvement.  See id. 

Wright began by recognizing that there was a split among the circuits as to 

the threshold required for a secondary actor to incur primary liability.  In the Ninth 

Circuit, liability would lie for an actor’s “significant participation” in a false 

statement by others, id. at 175, a standard that was understood to allow liability 

even where the statement had not been made or created by the actor, see Anixter, 

77 F.3d at 1226 n.10; Howard v. Everex Sys. Inc., 228 F.3d 1057, 1061 n.5 (9th 

Cir. 2000).  On the other side of the split lay Anixter, already approved in Shapiro, 

which had rejected the “significant participation” test in favor of what Wright 

deemed a “bright line” rule that “a defendant must actually make a false or 

misleading statement in order to be held liable under Section 10(b).”  Wright, 152 

F.3d at 175 (quoting Shapiro, 123 F.3d at 720).  

In light of this split, Wright reiterated its support for the “bright line” rule 

that “one must make the material misstatement or omission in order to be a primary 

violator.” 152 F.3d at 174 (quotations omitted).  However, in Wright, there was no 
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allegation that the auditor had “made” the statement by drafting or otherwise 

creating it.  Id. at 173.  Recognizing that under Central Bank there could be no 

reliance on conduct by a secondary actor that did not itself act deceptively, see 

Wright, 152 F.3d at 174, Wright held that because “reliance only on representations 

made by others cannot itself form the basis of liability,” id. at 175 (quoting Anixter, 

77 F.3d at 1225), “a secondary actor cannot incur primary liability under the Act 

for a statement not attributed to that actor at the time of its dissemination.”  Id.  In 

other words, where the only misrepresentation was “made by others” – because the 

secondary actor had not spoken – attribution was necessary to satisfy Central 

Bank’s requirement that the plaintiff rely on the defendant’s “statements or 

actions.”  511 U.S. at 180.   

Wright’s reasoning also was in keeping with the principle of §10(b) liability 

that one is deemed to “speak” when one expressly adopts a statement prepared by 

another.  For example, outside directors are deemed to make the statements in SEC 

filings they sign, even if they did not draft them.  See, e.g., In re Cabletron Sys. 

Inc., 311 F.3d 11, 41 (1st Cir. 2002).  Similarly, Wright concluded that a “silent” 

auditor is deemed to have spoken if it publicly adopts – through attribution – the 

financial statements of its client.  But where the financial statements have not been 

attributed to the auditor, and in the absence of any other misrepresentation by the 
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auditor, liability runs afoul of Central Bank’s requirement that a plaintiff rely on 

the defendant’s own conduct.   

The Wright Court elaborated on this reasoning when it rejected the 

plaintiff’s argument that the public had “understood” the auditor’s involvement in 

the release, even without attribution.  As the Court explained, to allow liability 

based solely on the public’s “understanding” would serve as “an exception to the 

rule … that secondary actors … may not be held primarily liable unless they 

themselves have made ‘a material misstatement (or omission) on which a purchaser 

or seller of securities relies.’”  152 F.3d at 176-77 (emphasis added) (quoting 

Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 191).  Thus, Wright made clear that, when the defendant 

has not otherwise engaged in deceptive conduct, attribution is necessary because it 

serves as a proxy for speech.  Just as the plaintiffs in Central Bank sought to 

impose liability on a bank that had taken no action, in Wright, the absence of 

attribution meant that the auditor had not “spoken.” 

Wright does not apply here, because Plaintiffs have alleged that Defendants 

themselves created misleading portions of Refco’s offering documents.  Thus, 

Plaintiffs are not seeking to hold Defendants responsible for representations “made 

by others”; Plaintiffs seek to hold them responsible for representations made by 

them.  Wright’s attribution requirement is not applicable because Plaintiffs are not 

seeking “an exception to the rule … that secondary actors … may not be held 
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primarily liable unless they themselves have made ‘a material misstatement (or 

omission) on which a purchaser or seller of securities relies.’” Wright, 152 F.3d at 

177. 

The reasoning behind Wright’s demand for attribution can also be gleaned 

from the sources it cites.  Wright quoted Anixter when it held that “reliance only on 

representations made by others cannot itself form the basis of liability.”  But 

Anixter did not impose an attribution requirement; it held only that if the defendant 

did not create the false statement, it did not “speak” for §10(b) purposes.  Anixter, 

77 F.3d at 1226-27; see also SEC v. Wolfson, 539 F.3d 1249, 1259 (10th Cir. 2008) 

(“We have never adopted an attribution requirement in a private securities 

case….”).  Similarly, Wright cited In re Kendall Square Research Corp. Securities 

Litigation, 868 F. Supp. 26, 28 (D. Mass. 1994), for the proposition that liability 

for a material misstatement would not lie against an accountant who “did not issue 

a report on the company’s financial statements but merely ‘reviewed and 

approved’ them.” Wright, 152 F.3d at 175 (emphasis added).  Thus, through its 

citations, Wright made clear that attribution was required only when the defendants 

had not spoken at all; it was not foreclosing liability when the defendants had 

created a corporation’s false statements. 

The issue arose a third time in Lattanzio.  Once again, the plaintiffs sought 

to hold an accounting firm liable for reviewing and approving false interim 
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financial data that had been publicly released as “unaudited.”  476 F.3d at 153.  

This time, the plaintiffs pointed out that an SEC regulation enacted after Wright 

required that auditors review – but not audit or issue an opinion on –“unaudited” 

interim financial statements.  The plaintiffs argued that, in light of that regulation, 

the public would understand that unaudited interim financials reflected the 

auditor’s approval and therefore could provide a basis for liability.  See id. at 155. 

Following Wright, Lattanzio rejected the plaintiffs’ argument, holding that if 

the auditor merely reviewed and approved financial statements but did not publicly 

express an opinion on them, and if the financial statements were not otherwise 

explicitly attributed to the auditor, the auditor had not “spoken.”  As the Court 

explained, “Public understanding that an accountant is at work behind the scenes 

does not create an exception to the requirement that an actionable misstatement be 

made by the accountant.  Unless the public’s understanding is based on the 

accountant’s articulated statement, the source for that understanding … does not 

matter.” Id. at 155 (citations omitted).  In other words, the Court concluded that a 

public “understanding” of the accountant’s involvement was not the equivalent of a 

statement by the accountant.  Thus, once again, attribution was necessary because 

the defendant had not otherwise made the statement at issue.  See id. at 156 (the 

regulation, which permitted companies to either include an audit opinion or declare 

the interim financial statements “unaudited,” “is consistent with the emphasis that 



31 

Central Bank and Wright place on attribution at the time of dissemination as a 

determinant of whether a defendant has made a statement for purposes of 

§10(b).”).   

United States v. Finnerty, 533 F.3d 143 (2d Cir. 2008), supports this 

interpretation.  There, the government alleged that by engaging in 

“interpositioning,” a NYSE specialist had violated §10(b).  The Court rejected the 

argument because interpositioning involved no deception.  See id. at 148-49.  The 

Court also rejected the government’s claim that customers were deceived because 

they understood specialists to have promised not to engage in interpositioning: 

The government’s argument fails for much the same reason [as it 
did in Lattanzio]. Some customers may have understood that the 
NYSE rules prohibit specialists from interpositioning, and that 
the rules amount to an assurance (by somebody) that 
interpositioning will not occur. As a consequence, some 
customers may have expected that Finnerty would not engage in 
the practice. But unless their understanding was based on a 
statement or conduct by Finnerty, he did not commit a primary 
violation of § 10(b). 

Id. at 150.  In other words, Finnerty interpreted Lattanzio’s attribution requirement 

to be a method of showing that the defendant engaged in deceptive conduct.  

Finnerty also described Wright as having held “that under Central Bank, a 

defendant ‘cannot incur primary liability’ for a statement neither made by him nor 

‘attributed to [him] at the time of its dissemination’.”  Id. at 150 (emphasis added) 

(quoting Wright, 152 F.3d at 175).  This characterization of Wright is best read as 
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as offering alternative paths to liability – either the defendant must make a 

statement, or a statement must be attributed to him – but not both.7   

The Sixth Circuit has interpreted Wright similarly.  In Fidel v. Farley, 392 

F.3d 220 (6th Cir. 2004), the court relied on Wright when refusing to hold an 

auditor liable for unaudited financial statements that the auditor had not drafted: 

“Ernst & Young did not assist in the preparation or presentation of this financial 

information, nor did it ever express an opinion about it.  It therefore cannot be held 

liable for making a false statement, because it made no statement with regard to 

these financial results.”  Id. at 235 (emphasis added).  Consistent with this 

interpretation of Wright, the next year, the Sixth Circuit held that liability can 

attach if a behind-the-scenes defendant makes a false statement with knowledge 

that it will be communicated by others, even absent explicit attribution.  See City of 

Monroe Employees Ret. Sys. v. Bridgestone Corp., 399 F.3d 651, 686 n.29 (6th 

Cir. 2005) (“If the [plaintiff] can show that Firestone was the originator of 

Bridgestone’s misrepresentations regarding Firestone and that Firestone knew or 

                                                 
7 This Court frequently interprets Wright to impose a requirement of speech, not to 
impose a requirement of attribution as the only acceptable form of speech.  See, 
e.g., Morrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd., 547 F.3d 167 (2d Cir. 2008) (“Liability 
under Rule 10b-5(b) requires a false or misleading statement. ‘Anything short of 
such conduct is merely aiding and abetting, and no matter how substantial that aid 
may be, it is not enough to trigger liability under Section 10(b).’” (quoting Wright, 
152 F.3d at 175); Suez Equity, 250 F.3d at 101 (“[t]he Central Bank and Wright 
plaintiffs only alleged that the defendants knew of the purported fraud through 
transactions with the defrauders, but failed to expose the deception.”). 
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should have known that its misrepresentation would be communicated to investors, 

primary liability should attach.”).  The Sixth Circuit thus saw no tension between 

its endorsement of Wright in Fidel, and the lack of an attribution requirement in 

Bridgestone, because it correctly interpreted Wright’s attribution requirement to 

apply only when the defendant has not made a statement.   

So interpreted, Wright and Lattanzio complement the reasoning of In re 

Scholastic Corp. Securities Litigation, 252 F.3d 63 (2d Cir. 2001), which held that 

a company’s vice president could be liable for corporate misstatements not 

specifically attributed to him when he was “involved in the drafting, producing, 

reviewing and/or disseminating of the false and misleading statements.”  Id. at 75-

76.  Thus, where the defendant actually “made” statements, this Court did not 

additionally require that the statements be attributed to him.  See SEC v. KPMG, 

LLP, 412 F. Supp. 2d 349, 375 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (“Under Scholastic, it appears 

plausible that the reliance element …would be satisfied by the public’s reliance on 

the entity’s statement as opposed to a statement attributed specifically to the 

individual officer.”).  Indeed, it is commonplace to permit §10(b) claims against 

corporate employees who draft misleading statements, even when their names are 

not publicly attached to them.  See, e.g., DiVittorio v. Equidyne Extractive Indus., 

Inc., 822 F.2d 1242, 1247 (2d Cir. 1987); In re Vivendi Universal, S.A. Sec. Litig., 

381 F. Supp. 2d 158, 191-92 (S.D.N.Y. 2003).  As the Fifth Circuit explained in 
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Southland Secs. Corp. v. INSpire Ins. Solutions, Inc., 365 F.3d 353 (5th Cir. 2004), 

“statements within [corporate] documents not attributed to any individual may be 

charged to one or more corporate officers provided specific factual allegations link 

the individual to the statement at issue.”  Id. at 365.8  

Seen in this light, Wright, Lattanzio, and Scholastic are consistent and fit 

neatly into traditional §10(b) jurisprudence.  For example, courts have long held 

                                                 
8 In the context of its discussion of unattributed corporate documents, the 
Southland court rejected the doctrine of “group pleading,” on which the DiVittorio 
and Vivendi courts had relied.  Because Plaintiffs have specifically alleged 
Defendants’ role in drafting Refco’s SEC filings, this doctrine is not relied on by 
Plaintiffs here.  However, where applicable, some courts have permitted plaintiffs, 
at the pleading stage and prior to discovery, to rely on “group pleading” to hold 
corporate officers responsible for their role in preparing false, but unattributed, 
corporate documents.  The doctrine allows courts to presume that documents 
published by the corporation “are the collective work of those individuals with 
direct involvement in the everyday business of the company,”  In re Pfizer Inc. 
Sec. Litig., 584 F. Supp. 2d 621, 637 (S.D.N.Y. 2008); In re BISYS Sec. Litig., 397 
F. Supp. 2d 430, 438 (S.D.N.Y. 2005).  Thus, where a plaintiff does not have 
sufficient information at the pleading stage to allege each defendant’s precise role 
in drafting an allegedly false corporate document, the group pleading doctrine is 
used to presume that certain corporate officers prepared the document, and thus 
“spoke” for §10(b) purposes.  See Pfizer, 584 F. Supp. 2d at 637.   After the 
pleading stage, plaintiffs maintain the burden to demonstrate through evidence 
each defendant’s role in drafting.  Although some courts doubt such a presumption 
satisfies the statutory particularity requirements for pleading that a defendant 
prepared a corporate document, see, e.g., Southland, 365 F.3d at 364, these courts 
do not consider the legal principle underlying the presumption to be in doubt, i.e., 
that if the plaintiff can show – through a pleading presumption or through specific 
allegations – that a particular corporate agent drafted misleading but unattributed 
corporate documents, that agent will be held responsible for the statement, see id. 
at 365.  Here, because Plaintiffs have detailed Defendants’ role in drafting the false 
statements, they have no need of the group pleading presumption and the 
presumption’s viability is not before the Court.   
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corporations liable for statements issued by unaffiliated market analysts if the 

corporations either publicly endorse the analysts’ statements – the equivalent of 

attribution – or channel information to the market using analysts as “conduits.”  

See, e.g., Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 314 (2d Cir. 2000); Rombach v. Chang, 

355 F.3d 164, 174 (2d Cir. 2004); Cooper v. Pickett, 137 F.3d 616 (9th Cir. 1997); 

Southland, 365 F.3d at 373; In re Navarre Corp. Sec. Litig., 299 F.3d 735, 743 (8th 

Cir. 2002); In re Burlington Coat Factory Sec. Litig., 114 F.3d 1410, 1428 (3d Cir. 

1997).  These paths to liability mirror the options available under Wright, 

Lattanzio, and Scholastic: A secondary actor can be liable for a statement it did not 

make if it adopts the statement, or can be liable for a statement it did make, even if 

that statement is issued “indirectly” through another actor.  See Bridgestone, 399 

F.3d at 686 n.29 (likening Anixter to precedents involving analysts).  It is not 

surprising that Wright and Lattanzio discussed only the former option in depth; in 

both cases, the plaintiffs conceded that the defendants had not made the false 

public statements at issue.  Lattanzio, 476 F.3d at 154; Wright, 152 F.3d at 173.   

The Supreme Court has also indicated that secondary actors may be liable 

for statements they prepare, even when not attributed to them.  In Herman & 

MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375 (1983), the Court compared §11 of the 

Securities Act of 1933 to §10(b), explaining that: 

[C]ertain individuals who play a part in preparing the registration 
statement generally cannot be reached by a Section 11 action. 
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These include corporate officers other than those specified in 15 
U.S.C. § 77k(a), lawyers not acting as “experts,” and accountants 
with respect to parts of a registration statement which they are 
not named as having prepared or certified.  If … purchasers in 
registered offerings were required to rely solely on Section 11, 
they would have no recourse against such individuals even if the 
excluded parties engaged in fraudulent conduct while 
participating in the registration statement.  The exempted 
individuals would be immune from federal liability for 
fraudulent conduct even though Section 10(b) extends to “any 
person” who engages in fraud in connection with a purchase or 
sale of securities. 

Id. at 387 n.22.  Huddleston comports with Wright and Lattanzio’s intuition: 

Liability can be incurred for drafting behind the scenes, or for publicly endorsing 

another’s statement, but both are not necessary.9 

The broad language of Wright and Lattanzio10 has led some other courts to 

overlook what was actually at issue in those cases.  For example, district courts 

have summarized Wright as requiring a showing that a defendant “[1] made a false 

or misleading statement or omission that [2] was attributed to him or her,” Global 

Crossing, 322 F. Supp. 2d at 330, and in Wolfson, the Tenth Circuit interpreted 

Wright to have tacked on an “additional element” to the test developed in Anixter.  

Wolfson, 539 F.3d at 1258.  But application of the attribution requirement to 

                                                 
9 Although Huddleston was decided before Central Bank, the Court recognized that 
the availability of aiding and abetting liability was an undecided question, and 
made clear that its reasoning would be based on primary liability.  See Huddleston, 
459 U.S. at 379 & n.5. 

10 See, e.g., Lattanzio, 476 F.3d at 155 (“a party can incur liability only if a 
misstatement is attributed to it at the time of dissemination”). 
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situations in which the defendants actually made a statement goes far beyond what 

was actually involved in Wright and Lattanzio. 

4. Mandatory Attribution Serves No Purpose 

The principal justification offered for requiring attribution in addition to 

requiring that a defendant “speak” has been that investors “rely” on a defendant’s 

statement only if they know it was that defendant who drafted it.  See, e.g., SEC v. 

Collins & Aikman Corp., 524 F. Supp. 2d 477, 490 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (deeming it a 

“non sequitur” to interpret Central Bank to require attribution, but concluding that 

“[a] n individual who relies on a statement that he believes was made by one 

person cannot then assert a claim against another.”).  But as the Supreme Court has 

recognized, Rule 10b-5 requires only that a plaintiff allege reliance on a statement, 

not reliance on the fact that a particular person made that statement: “Any person 

or entity, including a lawyer … who… makes a material misstatement (or 

omission) on which a purchaser or seller of securities relies may be liable ….”  

Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 191; see Dura Pharms., Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 

342 (2005) (describing reliance as a showing that “plaintiffs have relied upon that 

misrepresentation.”).   

As this Court recognized in In re Salomon Analyst Metromedia Litigation, 

544 F.3d 474 (2d Cir. 2008), when addressing the fraud-on-the-market doctrine: 

[T]he premise of Basic [Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224 (1988)] is 
that, in an efficient market, share prices reflect “all publicly 
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available information, and, hence, any material 
misrepresentations.” Id. at 246. It thus does not matter, for 
purposes of establishing entitlement to the presumption, whether 
the misinformation was transmitted by an issuer, an analyst, or 
anyone else. 

Id. at 481 (emphasis added).  In other words, investors rely on information, not 

speakers.  The Court reasoned that “a court may determine that the reasonable 

investor would rely only on misrepresentations made by some speakers, but not by 

others,” but that is a fact-specific inquiry that goes to the weight accorded the 

information based on the perceived identity of the speaker, not an either/or test that 

precludes reliance if identity is misperceived.  Id. at 484 n.8.11   

In Stoneridge, the Court affirmed that a secondary actor can be held liable if 

he or she makes a misrepresentation on which investors rely.  128 S. Ct. at 769.  

The Court then described the requirements for when an investor will be deemed to 

have “relied” on the conduct of a behind-the-scenes actor, and did not include an 

attribution requirement.  Id. at 770, 774.  The Court’s concern was with the degree 

of influence the secondary actor had over the statement.  See id. at 770.  While 

attribution might be one way of demonstrating influence, nowhere did Stoneridge 

suggest that it was the exclusive way.  Reading Wright and Lattanzio to impose an 

attribution requirement for secondary actors is at odds with Stoneridge’s test for 

reliance and causation.   
                                                 
11 In an efficient market, reliance is presumed from materiality.  Basic, 485 U.S. at 
247. 
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Certainly, it cannot be said that attribution is necessary before a defendant 

may be deemed to have “spoken” under Rule 10b-5(b).  As explained above, Rule 

10b-5(b) prohibits anyone to “make” an untrue statement, and does not use words 

such as “attribute” or “attribution.”  Stoneridge also made clear that attribution is 

not necessary for §10(b) “speech.”  Although the Eighth Circuit had held that the 

secondary actor vendors had not engaged in deceptive conduct under §10(b), In re 

Charter Commc’ns, Inc. Sec. Litig., 443 F.3d 987, 992 (8th Cir. 2006), Stoneridge 

concluded that the vendors’ conduct “included both oral and written statements,” 

even without public attribution.  128 S. Ct. at 769, 771.  And in Wright, this Court 

recognized that “[t]here is no requirement that the alleged violator directly 

communicate misrepresentations to [investors] for primary liability to attach.” 152 

F.3d at 175 (quoting Anixter, 77 F.3d at 1226); see also 15 U.S.C. §78j(b) 

(forbidding even “indirect” uses of “deceptive device[s]”).    

5. Mandatory Attribution Undermines Enforcement of the 
Exchange Act 

To require attribution even for defendants who create false statements leads 

to bizarre and undesirable consequences that Congress did not intend. 

Congress enacted the Exchange Act to “‘insure honest securities markets 

and thereby promote investor confidence’ after the market crash of 1929.”  SEC v. 

Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 819 (2002) (quoting United States v. O’Hagan, 521 U.S. 

642, 658 (1997)); see also Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc. v. Dabit, 
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547 U.S. 71, 78 (2006) (noting strong “federal interest in protecting the integrity 

and efficient operation” of U.S. securities markets).  When a defendant creates a 

false statement, imposing an attribution requirement frustrates this policy, because 

a person who, with scienter, writes a false statement that he knows another will 

publish escapes liability if the publisher does not identify the writer.  And if the 

publisher did not have scienter, it also escapes liability.  Thus, were a corporate 

officer or outside counsel to draft a false SEC filing knowing that it would be 

issued in the name of outside directors who are unaware of the truth, no one would 

be held liable, despite potentially disastrous consequences for investors.  As Judge 

Lynch noted in Global Crossing, such a rule “would allow those primarily 

responsible for making false statements to avoid liability by remaining anonymous, 

and thus would place a premium on concealment and subterfuge rather than on 

compliance with the federal securities laws.”  322 F. Supp. 2d at 333 (quotations 

omitted). 

In re Kidder Peabody Securities Litigation, 10 F. Supp. 2d 398 (S.D.N.Y. 

1998), is instructive.  There, the court considered whether a subsidiary corporation 

could be held liable for creating false statements that it knew would be published 

by its parent, stating:   

[H]olding a subsidiary immune from liability for statements 
communicated by its parent … would lead to an anomalous result.  A 
subsidiary could freely disseminate false information to the market 
through its parent, but investors relying on that information … would 
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be left with no remedy….  This “would lead to a result ‘so bizarre’ 
that Congress could not have intended it.”  
 

Id. at 408 (quoting Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 188).12 

6. Attribution, if Necessary, Need Not Be Explicit 

In the alternative, if attribution is required for reliance, it should be 

permissible in some cases to plead that investors understood the identity of the 

statements’ drafters, even if attribution was not explicit.   

As explained above, Wright and Lattanzio rejected the notion of “implicit” 

attribution because, on those facts, the absence of explicit attribution meant the 

defendants had not made a false statement.  Lattanzio, 476 F.3d at 155; Wright, 

152 F.3d at 177.  Where, as here, the defendants have engaged in such conduct, the 

only purpose for an attribution requirement would be to insure that plaintiffs 

“relied” on the identity of the speaker.  There is no reason such an understanding 

could not be derived in a manner other than explicit attribution.   

                                                 
12 In fact, taken to its logical conclusion, a doctrine that holds there can be no 
“reliance” absent attribution would mean that if a corporate agent personally lies to 
an investor’s face, but disclaims responsibility for the lie by claiming he is merely 
passing on information provided by the corporation, that agent would be absolved 
of all liability under §10(b).  See Thomas H. Lee Equity Fund V, L.P. v. Mayer 
Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP, No. 07 Civ. 6767 (GEL), 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
23611, at *4-*9 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 23, 2009).  Congress cannot have intended §10(b) 
to be read so narrowly.  Cf. In re Nat'l Century Fin. Enters. Inv. Litig., 541 F. 
Supp. 2d 986, 1005 (S.D. Ohio 2007) (“[G]eneral disclaimers of accuracy do not 
shield sellers who knowingly make false statements … Indeed, Section 29(a) of the 
[Exchange] Act prohibits the waiver of the substantive obligations of the Act.”).   
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In In re Mutual Funds Investment Litigation, 07-1607, 2009 WL 1241574 

(4th Cir. May 7, 2009), the defendants were alleged to have drafted fund 

prospectuses not specifically attributed to them.  After examining Wright, Anixter, 

and cases from other circuits, the Fourth Circuit concluded: 

At the complaint stage a plaintiff can plead fraud-on-the-market 
reliance by alleging facts from which a court could plausibly 
infer that interested investors would have known that the 
defendant was responsible for the statement at the time it was 
made, even if the statement on its face is not directly attributed to 
the defendant.  Direct attribution of a public statement, while 
undoubtedly sufficient to establish fraud-on-the-market reliance, 
is an inexact proxy for determining whether investors will 
attribute a publicly available statement to a particular person or 
entity. [T]he attribution determination is properly made on a 
case-by-case basis by considering whether interested investors 
would attribute to the defendant a substantial role in preparing or 
approving the allegedly misleading statement. 

Id. at *11 (citations omitted).    

District courts in this Circuit have adopted similar reasoning, recognizing 

that Scholastic permitted §10(b) liability without attribution, but that “[t]he 

Scholastic decision does not refer to Wright, and no subsequent Second Circuit 

panel has attempted to synthesize the two decisions.”  In re LaBranche Sec. Litig., 

405 F. Supp. 2d 333, 350 (S.D.N.Y. 2005).  To resolve this “tension between 

Wright and Scholastic,” In re Alstom SA Sec. Litig., 406 F. Supp. 2d 433, 465 

(S.D.N.Y. 2005), some courts have read Scholastic to permit liability for 

statements not explicitly attributed to the defendant as long as investors were 
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“sufficiently aware of defendant’s participation that they may be found to have 

relied” on the statement “as if the statement had been attributed to the defendant.”  

Global Crossing, 322 F. Supp. 2d at 332-33.  “Scholastic can be read as 

comporting with Wright’s reliance requirement because it is reasonable to infer 

that an investor, when evaluating the financial statements of a company, at least 

implicitly relies on the officers of that company, who are generally understood to 

be responsible for day-to-day corporate affairs including preparation of statements 

for public disclosure.”  Alstom, 406 F. Supp. 2d at 466 n.129; see also Pension 

Comm., 446 F. Supp. 2d at 183 n.29; LaBranche, 405 F. Supp. 2d at 351; In re Van 

Der Moolen Holding N.V. Sec. Litig., 405 F. Supp. 2d 388, 402 (S.D.N.Y. 2005); 

Menkes v. Stolt-Nielsen S.A., No. 3:03cv409 (DJS), 2006 WL 1699603, at *7 (D. 

Conn. June 19, 2006); Seippel v. Sidley, Austin, Brown & Wood, LLP, 399 F. Supp. 

2d 283, 289, 293-94 (S.D.N.Y. 2005); Teachers’ Ret. Sys. of Louisiana v. ACLN, 

Ltd., No. 01 Civ. 11814 (LAP), 2004 WL 2997957, at *6-7 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 27, 

2004). 

Here, the Complaint alleges that Mayer Brown was identified in the Bond 

Offering Memorandum and the IPO Registration Statement as Refco’s counsel for 

those documents, ¶¶116, 201 (CA-54-55, CA-89-90), and that “readers of those 

documents understood that Mayer Brown was involved in the preparation and 

review of those documents.”  ¶749 (CA-295).  Knowledgeable investors also 
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would have known that Defendants had a longstanding relationship with Refco and 

assisted it in major investment deals, ¶¶710-13 (CA-278-81), particularly as 

Collins was known as the “go-to guy at Refco” in the press, ¶77 (CA-38-39).  See 

Mutual Funds, 2009 WL 1241574, at *14 (attribution existed in part because an 

“interested investor familiar with the organizational structure of mutual funds” 

would recognize the defendant’s role in drafting).  And, critically, just as in 

Scholastic, Defendants were acting as Refco’s agent.  See Suez Equity, 250 F.3d at 

101 (“[I]n Central Bank and Wright there was no allegation that the defendants 

were agents of the alleged defrauder.”).  Because a court is obliged on a motion to 

dismiss to “draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the plaintiff,” Kassner v. 2nd 

Avenue Delicatessen, Inc., 496 F.3d 229, 237 (2d Cir. 2007), and to “accept[] all 

factual allegations in the complaint,” ATSI Commc’ns, Inc. v. Shaar Fund, Ltd., 

493 F.3d 87, 98 (2d Cir. 2007), there is sufficient basis for a finding that investors 

understood the statements in the Bond Offering Memorandum and IPO 

Registration Statement to be Defendants’ statements.  The District Court’s refusal 

to accept Plaintiffs’ allegations was error.   

B. Defendants Are Liable Under Rules 10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c)  

1. Collins and Mayer Brown Schemed to Defraud 

Collins and Mayer Brown “employ[ed]” a “device, scheme, or artifice to 

defraud” and “engage[d]” in a “course of business which operate[d] … as a fraud 
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or deceit,” 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5(a) and (c), by concocting the round-trip loan 

scheme; negotiating and drafting the contracts; representing Refco, RGHI, and at 

least one customer in executing the loans; directing repayment to Refco; and 

signing documents as Refco’s “agent.” ¶¶554, 564 (CA-206-07, CA-209-10).13   

The District Court, ostensibly relying on Central Bank, concluded that 

Defendants had not “employ[ed]” a device to defraud because they were assisting 

Refco’s fraud.  SPA-21.  Defendants’ motivation does not affect whether they 

committed a primary violation.   

This Court addressed a similar situation in SEC v. U.S. Environmental, Inc., 

155 F.3d 107 (2d Cir. 1998), where a broker conducted manipulative trades at the 

direction of his client.  The broker argued that because he merely effectuated his 

client’s scheme, he was an aider and abettor.  See id. at 112.  This Court disagreed: 

Like lawyers, accountants, and banks who engage in fraudulent 
or deceptive practices at their clients’ direction, Romano is a 
primary violator despite the fact that someone else directed the 
market manipulation scheme. The Supreme Court in Central 
Bank never intended to restrict § 10(b) liability to supervisors or 
directors of securities fraud schemes while excluding from 
liability subordinates who also violated the securities laws. 

Id. (emphasis added).  The Court explained that “as Romano, with scienter, 

effected the manipulative buy and sell orders, Romano’s personal motivation for 

manipulating the market is irrelevant in determining whether he violated § 10(b).”  
                                                 
13 As discussed in Part I.C, infra, an important part of the scheme also included 
Mayer Brown’s drafting of Refco’s offering documents. 



46 

Id.  In other words, Collins and Mayer Brown may have been motivated by a desire 

to assist Refco, but that has no bearing on whether they were primary violators.  

The only question is whether they “engaged” in a “course of business which 

operate[d] … as a fraud or deceit.”  

The Supreme Court took a similar view in Stoneridge, finding that the 

vendors had engaged in deceptive conduct prohibited by the statute even though 

their motivation was to assist Charter in committing fraud, and affirming dismissal 

of the plaintiffs’ claims only because their deceptive conduct was “too remote” 

from the financial statements that ultimately caused them injury.  128 S. Ct. at 769, 

771, 774; see Salomon, 554 F.3d at 481 (Stoneridge rejected plaintiffs’ claims 

because the secondary actors’ “deceptive acts were not communicated to the 

public”) (quoting Stoneridge, 128 S. Ct. at 769).   

2. Plaintiffs Relied on Defendants’ Conduct 

In accord with Stoneridge’s test for reliance, Plaintiffs have alleged that 

Defendants’ deceptive acts were communicated to the public, Refco’s publicly-

released false financial statements were the “necessary or inevitable” result of 

Defendants’ conduct, and Defendants’ conduct concerned the investment sphere. 

(a) Defendants’ Deceptive Acts Were Communicated 
Publicly 

Stoneridge found that investors had not relied on the vendors’ “deceptive 

acts” because those acts were never disclosed.  128 S. Ct. at 769.   Here, however, 
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Refco’s financial statements did “disclose” up to $970 million in false customer 

receivables that were round-tripped in a single year, or more than 60% of the total 

$1.6 billion reported.  ¶¶205, 216 (CA-91, CA-96-98).  Of this $970 million, $720 

million – over 45% of the total customer receivables for the period and nearly four 

times Refco’s reported income for the year, ¶580 (CA-217) – was the result of 

sham transactions effectuated by Defendants.  ¶216 (CA-96-98).  In another year, 

Refco reported $900 million of false “customer receivables,” of which $650 

million had been generated by Collins and Mayer Brown – or 43% of the total 

customer receivables reported.  ¶¶183, 216 (CA-82-83, CA-96-98).  These false 

receivables were both the necessary and inevitable culmination of Defendants’ 

fraudulent actions, and investors relied on these figures.  This is more than an 

allegation that investors relied on the transactions “reflect[ed]” in Refco’s financial 

statements, Stoneridge, 128 S. Ct. at 770; where the sheer size of the fraud crowds 

out the “truthful” components of the disclosures, the acts themselves – here, 

creation of false receivables – are being communicated. 

Reliance on the “deceptive acts” cannot be lacking merely because investors 

did not see the specific loan contracts – if they had seen them, they would have 

seen that the lump sum amounts were unusually large, timed to coordinate with the 

issuance of public financial statements, and were paid back within days or weeks – 

facts which would make them instantly recognizable for the shams they were.  
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¶¶627-29 (CA233-36).   The object of the fraud was to conceal the loan contracts 

so that investors would be unaware of the true nature of Refco’s so-called 

“receivables from customers,” and this is precisely what Defendants accomplished.   

In re Bristol Myers Squibb Co. Securities Litigation, 586 F. Supp. 2d 148 

(S.D.N.Y. 2008) is instructive.  There, a corporate vice president had negotiated a 

patent settlement with a generic drug manufacturer.  The settlement included a 

secret oral side agreement that was not disclosed to regulators, and the details of 

the settlement – including the side agreement – were withheld from or 

misrepresented to investors.  When the truth came out and the settlement did not 

receive regulatory approval, Bristol’s stock price dropped.  Although the vice 

president did not make public statements, the court held that he could be liable 

under Stoneridge: 

It is neither implausible, nor too remote to find that the investing 
public relied on the announcement of the Apotex litigation 
settlement in deciding whether or not to invest in Bristol-Myers 
stock, and Bodnar was directly responsible for the settlement 
agreements. … [I]nvestors relied on [Bodnar’s] good faith in 
negotiating the Apotex settlement agreement …. 

Id. at 170.  The court was not concerned that the side agreement – i.e., the 

deceptive act – was not disclosed until the end of the Class Period; investors relied 

on the settlement itself, and its fraudulent aspects were withheld.  See id.14  Here, 

                                                 
14 In this case, Mayer Brown’s involvement with the fraudulent transactions was 
disclosed to the public on October 18, 2005.  ¶245. 
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the investing public relied on Refco’s reports of its receivables, and the good faith 

of its agents – including its long-standing lawyers – in negotiating and effectuating 

them.15  This is sufficient. 

In concluding that the investors had not relied on Defendants’ “deceptive 

acts,” the District Court cited In re DVI Inc. Securities Litigation, 249 F.R.D. 196, 

203 (E.D. Pa. 2008).  There, the court dismissed allegations that a law firm 

“draft[ed] fraudulent public financial reports [and] ma[de] fraudulent disclosures 

related to DVI’s internal controls.” Id. at 199.  The DVI court provided little 

reasoning, and no details of the transactions or the disclosures, but the dismissal 

(now on appeal) does not appear to find support in Stoneridge, where the vendors 

“had no role in preparing” the financial statements.  128 S. Ct. at 767.   The DVI 

court also appeared to require that any false statements be attributed to the law firm 

at the time of dissemination, see id. at 217 n.39, which, as discussed above, is not 

required either under Supreme Court or Second Circuit precedent. 

The District Court also erred by relying on In re Parmalat Securities 

Litigation, 570 F. Supp. 2d 521 (S.D.N.Y. 2008), where the court dismissed 

allegations that defendant banks and other actors had participated in fraudulent 

                                                 
15 Notably, Defendants had a duty to “not … fail to disclose a material fact to a 
third person when disclosure is necessary to avoid assisting a criminal or 
fraudulent act by a client.”  Illinois Supreme Court Rules of Professional Conduct 
4.1 
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financing transactions to inflate Parmalat’s reported results.16  To the extent 

Parmalat refused to find liability because the defendants were not named publicly, 

see id. at 526, the court appears to have grafted on to Stoneridge a requirement that 

the identity of the secondary actor be disclosed before an investor may be deemed 

to have relied on the defendant’s “acts.”  Nothing in Stoneridge supports such a 

result, for the same reason that attribution is not necessary in the case of fraudulent 

statements.  And to the extent that Parmalat held the claims insufficient because 

the public disclosures did not “describe[] any defendant’s own conduct, much less 

conduct that was deceptive,” id., the court appears to have set a standard that is 

inappropriate in this case.  Here, had the details of the loans been disclosed, there 

would have been no fraud; a standard that requires disclosure of such details before 

liability can be imposed – even where the object of the scheme is to conceal those 

details – threatens to do away with secondary actor liability entirely, in direct 

contravention of Central Bank’s recognition that “[i]n any complex securities fraud 

… there are likely to be multiple violators.”  511 U.S. at 191. 

(b) Defendants’ Conduct Rendered False Statements 
Necessary or Inevitable 

Defendants’ conduct made it both “necessary” and “inevitable” that Refco’s 

financial statements would be false and misleading.  As an initial matter, it is 
                                                 
16 With respect to one of the transactions, the court had already held that the 
transaction was not fraudulent, see 570 F. Supp. 2d at 526 – a holding not 
applicable here.   
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critical to note that the vendors in Stoneridge were third parties engaging in arms’-

length transactions with Charter, the primary actor.  Charter then independently 

misreported the transactions on its financial statements.  Here, by contrast, 

Defendants were working on Refco’s behalf.   Although Charter had to make an 

independent decision to falsely report the transactions with the vendors, such a 

distinction is meaningless here, where Defendants served as Refco’s agent in 

committing the fraud.  See Suez Equity, 250 F.3d at 101 (“A corporation can only 

act through its employees and agents.”).  If Defendants’ actions did not 

“necessarily” and “inevitably” lead to false reporting under Stoneridge as a matter 

of law, then no corporate officer would ever be held liable for fraudulent actions 

taken in furtherance of his agency; the theoretical possibility that someone else at 

the company, somewhere along the way, might put a stop to the fraud would 

always be deemed to break the chain of causation.   

Additionally, because the loan documents represented real contracts with 

real obligations to Refco’s counterparties – even if they cumulatively created a 

false impression of Refco’s financial condition – once executed, it was “necessary 

or inevitable” that they be accounted for as customer receivables.17  This stands in 

                                                 
17 Although Refco could have, and should have, explained the nature of these 
“receivables,” Defendants were responsible for drafting many of the documents in 
which such disclosures should have been made, ensuring that investors could not 
discover the truth.  Because Defendants prevented disclosure of the truth, it was 
“inevitable” that there would be no disclosure. 
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stark contrast to Stoneridge, where Charter made the decision, after the contracts 

were signed, to account for related contracts as though they were unrelated.  See 

Stoneridge, 128 S. Ct. at 767, 770.18 

Finally, in Stoneridge, the vendors’ conduct took place in a single set of 

transactions that inflated revenue for a single quarter.  See id. at 766; Charter, 443 

F.3d at 990.  Here, Defendants’ conduct spanned five years and at least seventeen 

separate roundtrip transactions.  These transactions were timed to coincide with the 

end of Refco’s financial reporting periods and the filing of amendments to the 

Registration Statements, so that each new filing reflected the results of the latest 

roundtrip deals.  In a real sense, then, once the transactions began, they could not 

be stopped without revealing the fraud.  For example, in the original IPO 

Registration Statement, Refco included results through November 2004, reporting 

$1,767,347,000 in customer receivables – a figure that included a roundtrip loan on 

November 26 that was unwound on December 3.  ¶¶494-99 (CA-190-91); A-973.  

The final IPO Registration Statement included results through May 2005, including 

                                                 
18 The Complaint alleges that there were other secondary actors who should have 
identified the fraud and exposed it.  The responsibilities of these defendants do not 
break the chain of causation as it was conceived in Stoneridge; there, the Supreme 
Court was concerned with whether the corporation itself independently made a 
decision to falsify its accounting, and determined that the corporation had done so.  
128 S. Ct. at 770.  The Court was not concerned with the possibility that other 
secondary actors might act to prevent the fraud.  Indeed, if the mere presence of 
responsible secondary actors was enough to break the chain of causation, then for 
the largest frauds, the ones most likely to damage investors, no liability would lie.   
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“customer receivables” that were the product of a roundtrip loan that lasted from 

May 25 to June 6. ¶¶198, 512-13 (CA-89, CA-193-94).  Had the fraud not 

continued as the IPO Registration Statement was amended (and as Refco filed its 

financial statements with the SEC), the discrepancies between the earlier financial 

statements and the later ones would have immediately revealed the falsity of the 

prior representations.  Once Defendants began hiding Refco’s massive losses –

losses that would never disappear – repeat roundtrip transactions, and the resulting 

false statements, were inevitable unless Defendants or Refco insiders were willing 

to incriminate themselves.  At minimum, this is sufficient to allege that 

Defendants’ conduct rendered Refco’s false statements “inevitable” for the 

purposes of a motion to dismiss. 

(c) Defendants’ Conduct Occurred Within the 
“Investment Sphere” 

As the Supreme Court explained, the Exchange Act’s emphasis on securities 

“provide[s] some insight into the deceptive acts that concerned the enacting 

Congress.”  Stoneridge, 128 S. Ct. at 770.  Although in Stoneridge the deceptive 

acts were deemed “too remote” from the injuries to investors in part because they 

took place in the realm of “purchase and supply contracts,” id. at 769-70, here, the 

District Court did not even consider that Defendants were acting on behalf of their 

client – a securities brokerage and clearing house – to use brokerage accounts to 

generate sham financing in anticipation of the client’s public offerings.  Nothing 
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could be more deeply embedded within the “the securities markets – the realm of 

financing business.”  Id. at 770.  

For this reason, the District Court’s observation that §10(b) does not reach 

“all commercial transactions that … affect the price of a security in some 

attenuated way” is inapposite.  SPA-20 (quoting Stoneridge, 128 S. Ct. at 771).  

These transactions struck at the heart of what Congress sought to regulate in 

enacting the federal securities laws – indeed, in its disclosures, Refco conceded 

that it was subject to regulation by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission, 

the SEC, the NASD, the Federal Reserve Board, and the Department of Treasury. 

¶711 (CA-279).  The sham loans even caused Refco to report falsely that it 

maintained “excess regulatory capital.” ¶228 (CA-103-4).  The fraud here did not 

concern an area “already governed by functioning and effective state-law 

guarantees,” Stoneridge, 128 S. Ct. at 771, but instead concerned an area 

characterized by pervasive federal control. 

In this respect, too, the District Court erred by relying on DVI and Parmalat.  

Neither decision acknowledged that Stoneridge was heavily dependent on the 

Court’s conclusion that the vendors had acted in “the marketplace for goods and 

services, not in the investment sphere.” 128 S. Ct. at 774.  Where, as here, the 

defendants act in the investment sphere, there is a much closer nexus between their 

deceptive conduct and the injury to investors, and liability should attach. 



55 

The wisdom of permitting liability for sham financing transactions is evident 

from the fact that one of Refco’s brokerage customers, concerned after Enron, 

backed out of one of the roundtrip loans in 2002.  ¶561 (CA-208).  Thus, the threat 

of liability deterred at least one sham loan.  If this Court holds that even fraudulent 

financing transactions, carried out by corporate agents for the purpose of inflating 

the corporation’s financial statements, cannot trigger liability under §10(b), an 

important source of deterrence will be eliminated.   

C. All of Defendants’ Conduct Should Be Considered as a Single 
Scheme 

Finally, the District Court erred by considering Defendants’ conduct in 

connection with the loans separately from its conduct in connection with Refco’s 

public statements.  Although Rule 10(b)-5(b) singles out false statements and 

omissions, §10(b) itself draws no such distinctions.  Moreover, Rule 10b-5(c) 

forbids “engag[ing] in any…course of business which operates … as a fraud or 

deceit upon any person,” suggesting that actions taken in furtherance of a single 

scheme – whether or not classified as “statements” – must be considered together. 

Case law confirms that a defendant’s actions in furtherance of a scheme 

must be considered cumulatively.  In Stoneridge, the Supreme Court recognized 

that the vendors’ conduct included false statements as well as other actions, and 

nonetheless considered the conduct as an undifferentiated whole.  See 128 S. Ct. at 

769.  In fact, it based part of its holding on the fact that the vendors, although they 
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had participated in sham transactions, had “no role in preparing or disseminating 

Charter’s financial statements.” Id. at 767.  And in Lentell v. Merrill Lynch & Co., 

396 F.3d 161 (2d Cir. 2005), this Court held that “statement” claims are 

distinguished from “scheme” claims in that “statement” claims rely solely on 

allegations of misrepresentations.  Id. at 177.  

Here, Defendants effectuated the fraudulent loans, and drafted, reviewed, 

and edited Refco’s public filings.  Unlike the vendors in Stoneridge who had no 

control over the public statements, Defendants were positioned to ensure the loans 

would not be disclosed publicly.  But because the District Court artificially 

considered the scheme piecemeal, it reached the erroneous conclusion that 

Defendants had no “control” over Refco’s public statements, SPA-22 – a 

conclusion rendered even more surprising by the fact that, just pages earlier, the 

court accepted Plaintiffs’ allegations that Defendants drafted misleading portions 

of Refco’s SEC filings.  SPA-6-8, SPA-19.  Unlike in Stoneridge, Defendants’ 

participation in all aspects of the fraud made it “necessary or inevitable” that 

Refco’s public disclosures would be misleading, thus satisfying both reliance and 

causation for anyone who relied upon those disclosures. 

II. The Control Person Claims Should Be Reinstated 

Because the District Court determined that Plaintiffs had not pled §10(b) 

claims, the District Court concluded that Plaintiffs had not stated a claim for §20(a) 
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liability.  The District Court erred in dismissing the §10(b) claims, and, therefore, 

the §20(a) claim should be reinstated. 

III. Leave to Amend 

If this Court concludes that the Complaint does not state a claim under 

§10(b), Plaintiffs request the opportunity to amend their allegations to include facts 

discovered since the Complaint was filed.  Leave to amend a complaint “shall be 

freely given when justice so requires,” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a), and “should not be 

denied unless there is evidence of undue delay, bad faith, undue prejudice to the 

non-movant, or futility.”  Milanese v. Rust-Oleum Corp., 244 F.3d 104, 110 (2d 

Cir. 2001) (citing Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962)). 

Plaintiffs originally filed their claims against Mayer Brown and Collins in a 

separate complaint in October 2007.  SPA-1 n.1.  The District Court ordered 

Plaintiffs to consolidate their allegations into the pre-existing First Amended 

Complaint against the other defendants, in accord with a December 3, 2007 

deadline to file any amendments to the First Amended Complaint.  A-97; A-103.  

After the Second Amended Complaint was filed, however, Stoneridge was 

decided, and Collins was indicted and tried.  Plaintiffs should be granted leave to 

amend under these circumstances.   
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CONCLUSION 

The District Court found it “dismaying that participants in a fraudulent 

scheme who may even have committed criminal acts are not answerable in 

damages to the victims of the fraud,” but concluded that such an outcome was “a 

result of a policy choice by Congress.”  SPA-25 n.15.   Rather than attribute such a 

draconian intent to Congress, this Court should conclude that although Congress 

may not have provided private plaintiffs with an aiding and abetting cause of 

action, Congress did not intend to narrow the definition of primary liability beyond 

all recognition and value.  Plaintiffs have stated a claim against Defendants for 

violating §10(b) of the Exchange Act, and the Judgment of the District Court 

should be reversed. 

 

Dated:  July 6, 2009       

Respectfully submitted, 



59 

GRANT & EISENHOFER  P.A. 
 
 
 
By:  ______________________ 
Stuart M. Grant 
James J. Sabella  
Brenda F. Szydlo 
485 Lexington Avenue, 29th Floor 
New York, NY 10017 
Telephone:  (646) 722-8500 
Facsimile:   (646) 722-8501 

   - and - 

Megan D. McIntyre 
Christine M. Mackintosh 
Chase Manhattan Centre 
1201 North Market Street 
Wilmington, DE 19801 
Telephone:  (302) 622-7000 
Facsimile:   (302) 622-7100 
 
Attorneys for Lead Plaintiff Pacific 
Investment Management Company LLC 
and Co-Lead Counsel for the Putative 
Class 

BERNSTEIN LITOWITZ 
BERGER & GROSSMANN LLP 

 
 

By:  _______________________ 
John P. Coffey  
Salvatore J. Graziano  
John C. Browne  
Elliott Weiss 
Ann M. Lipton 
Jeremy P. Robinson 
1285 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, NY 10019 
Telephone:  (212) 554-1400 
Facsimile:   (212) 554-1444 

Attorneys for Lead Plaintiff RH 
Capital Associates LLC and Co-Lead 
Counsel for the Putative Class 
 

 

 

 

 
 



 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 32(a)(7) 

 I hereby certify pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. 32(a)(7)(C) that the attached 

brief is proportionally spaced, has a typeface (New Times Roman) of 14 points, 

and contains 13,786 words (excluding, as permitted by Fed. R. App. P. 

32(a)(7)(B), the corporate disclosure statement, table of contents, table of 

authorities, and certificate of compliance), as counted by the Microsoft Word 

processing system used to produce this brief. 

Dated: July 6 , 2009 

 

      __________________________ 
Ann M. Lipton  

Attorney for Plaintiffs-Appellants 
 
 



SPECIAL APPENDIX 
 



i 

SPECIAL APPENDIX 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Opinion and Order, dated March 17, 2009 ................ SPA-1 

Rule 54(b) Judgment, dated March 18, 2009............. SPA-27 

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)...................................................... SPA-28 

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5................................................ SPA-28 



SPA-1



SPA-2



SPA-3






















































